No. 45582-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

STEPHEN ADAM YOUNG,

Appellant.

On Appeal from the Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 10-1-04933-1 The Honorable Vicki Hogan, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Appellant WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

I. Assignments Of Error

- 1. The trial court erred in admitting minimally probative but unfairly prejudicial evidence of Stephen Young's white supremacist beliefs under ER 404(b).
- 2. Stephen Young was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel when his trial attorney failed to request an instruction informing the jury that it could only consider evidence of Young's white supremacist beliefs for the limited purpose of establishing motive for the crimes.
- 3. The State failed to present sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the essential element of premeditation.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Where evidence of Stephen Young's white supremacist beliefs was not necessary to establish a motive for the crime, did the trial court err in admitting the evidence under ER 404(b)? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 2. Did the trial court err in admitting evidence of Stephen Young's white supremacist beliefs where any probative value was minimal and where the potential for prejudice was extremely high? (Assignment of Error 1)

- 3. Was Appellant denied his right to effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel fought vigorously to exclude evidence of Stephen Young's white supremacist beliefs due to its prejudicial nature, and where the evidence was admitted only for limited purposes, but trial counsel failed to propose a jury instruction expressly limiting the purpose for which the evidence could be considered? (Assignment of Error 2)
- 4. Did the State present sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the essential element of premeditation, where the facts showed an opportunity to reflect and deliberate but no evidence of actual reflection and deliberation? (Assignment of Error 3)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The State charged Stephan Adam Young by Information with: (1) attempted murder of Bryan Branch (RCW 9A.32.030); (2) first degree assault of Bryan Branch (RCW 9A.36.011); (3) second degree assault of Brandon Crowe (RCW 9A.36.021); (4) unlawful possession of a firearm (RCW 9.41.040); (5) first degree assault of Heather Martin (RCW 9A.36.011); (6) first degree assault of Marlon Green (RCW 9A.36.011); (7) first degree assault of Deanna Treptow

(RCW 9A.36.011); (8) first degree assault of David Moore (RCW 9A.36.011); (9) unlawful possession of a firearm (RCW 9.41.040); (10) intimidating a witness (RCW 9A.72.110); and (11) tampering with a witness (RCW 9A.72.120). (CP 31-39) The State alleged that Young was armed with a firearm when he committed the attempted murder and assault offenses. (CP 31-35)

The trial court denied Young's pretrial motion to sever the counts and to instead group them by incident. (RP 102-11)¹ The trial court also denied Young's motion to have full access to information relating to an ongoing internal affairs investigation of one of the detectives involved in Young's case. (RP 1216-18, 1250-681; CP 123-28, 142) But the trial court allowed some limited access. (RP 1281; CP 104-05, 141, 142)

Young's first trial ended with a mistrial because improper testimony was elicited by the State. (RP 1147-48, 1203) After a second trial, the jury found Young guilty of the murder, assault, and tampering with a witness charges, and not guilty of intimidating a witness. (CP 247-68; RP 2651-56) Young had previously waived his right to have the jury decide the two unlawful possession of a

¹ Citations to the transcripts in this case are to the numbered volumes only (Volumes 1-20). The transcript of the hearing on 04/06/12 is not referred to in this brief.

firearm charges, and the trial court found Young guilty of those charges. (RP 2671-75; CP 52, 146, 147, 379-85)

Young filed a motion for a new trial because potential impeachment evidence had come to light; that one of the detectives who investigated Young's case had failed to turn over relevant information to the prosecutor in a different case. (CP 344-47) The trial court denied that motion as well. (RP 2671)

The trial court also denied Young's request to merge the two unlawful possession of a firearm convictions, but the court merged the first degree assault conviction relating Bryan Branch with the attempted murder conviction relating to Branch. (RP 2674-75, 2675-76, 2677) The trial court sentenced Young as a persistent offender to a sentence of life without the possibility of parole. (RP 2679-80; CP 364) This appeal timely follows. (CP 373)

B. Substantive Facts

In the fall of 2010, Stephen Young and Deanna Treptow were in a dating relationship. (RP 1530-31, 1535) On October 27, 2010, Treptow spent the day with Marlon Green, Heather Martin and David Moore. (RP 1346, 1347, 1501-02, 1503) That night, they went to a known drug house in the area of 143rd Street and Pacific Avenue in Tacoma. (RP 1348, 1350, 1371, 1499, 1503-04) Sometime after

midnight of October 28, 2010, Green's friend, Riki Perasso, received a phone call. (RP 1350-51, 1739-40) Perasso turned to Green and asked if he was "fucking" Treptow. (RP 1350) Green grabbed the phone from Perasso and began arguing with an unknown person on the other end. (RP 1352) As he talked, Green took the phone outside to the car they arrived in, and handed the phone to Treptow. (RP 1354)

Green, Treptow, Moore and Martin got into the car. Martin sat in the driver's seat, Green sat in the front passenger seat, and Treptow and Moore sat in the back seat. (RP 1364, 1505, 1506) As they drove away, Martin noticed a dark-colored SUV parked on the side of the road, and a female sitting inside talking on the telephone. (RP 1508-09) She also noticed a masculine figure standing next to the SUV. (RP 1511-12)

As they passed the SUV, shots were fired at the car. (RP 1357, 1509) Several bullets lodged in the side of the car, and several entered the passenger compartment. (RP 1398, 1401, 1403-04) A bullet grazed Green's elbow, Martin was struck in her shoulder and foot. (RP 1357, 1363, 1510) Martin drove to a nearby 7-Eleven parking lot. (RP 1512) Green got out of the car and left, and Treptow drove Martin to the hospital. (RP 1358, 1359, 1512-13)

Martin was not cooperative with police who arrived at the hospital to investigate the shooting. (RP 2095-96) She eventually gave an interview, and told the detective that Young and Treptow spoke on the phone the night of the shooting, and that the conversation involved Young's belief that Treptow was sleeping with Green. (RP 2101, 2103)

That same night, Carrie Taylor-Edwards gave Stephen Young a ride from the Western Motel on South Tacoma Way to the area of 143rd Street and Pacific Avenue. (RP 1541, 2372-72) Taylor-Edwards drives a black GMC Jimmy SUV. (RP 1539) Taylor-Edwards testified that Young directed her where to drive, then instructed her to pull over and turn off the headlights. (RP 1542) According to Taylor-Edwards, Young exited the SUV while he talked and argued on his cellular phone. (RP 1542)

Taylor-Edwards heard shots and saw flashes as a light-colored SUV drove past her. (RP 1542, 1543) The shots came from the area where she believed Young was standing, but she did not see Young fire a weapon. (RP 1543, 1555) Taylor-Edwards testified that Young ordered her to follow the SUV, and she saw the SUV pull into a 7-Eleven parking lot. (RP 1544) But she refused to follow and instead drove Young back to the Western Motel. (RP 1544)

Sarah Smith, Jacqueline Souza, Bryan Branch, and Billy Heatwole were at the motel when they returned. (RP 1582, 1672) According the Smith, after they returned, Young seemed worried and Taylor-Edwards was uncharacteristically quiet. (RP 1584, 1585) Souza testified that Taylor-Edwards was "freaking out" and said that Young had shot people. (RP 1677)

According to Souza, Young was pacing the room, and saying that people were after him. (RP 1676, 1679) He kept looking out of the motel room window, and had a gun in his hand. (RP 1679, 1681) Smith also testified that Young expressed concern that someone was setting him up. (RP 1586) In the first trial, Smith testified that Young said some "nigger is fucking his girl," but she did not recall that statement at the second trial. (RP 1590)

Green testified that he was a member of a group called the Goons. (RP 1364) He explained that Goons commit crimes together, like stealing things and beating people up. (RP 1383) According to Green, a lot of people do not like him and when he tried to think about who might have been trying to shoot him, he realized the "possibilities were endless." (RP 1383)

Later on the night of October 28, Branch drove Young and another friend, Brandon Crowe, to a home in Puyallup where they

could take drugs. (RP 1590, 1682, 2213, 2214, 2217, 2375-76) As the men smoked methamphetamine and chatted with friends, a woman arrived and Branch went outside to talk to her. (RP 2218, 2219-20) When he returned, Young began questioning Branch about the woman and demanded to know what they were talking about. (RP 2220-21, 2379)

The three men left, again with Branch driving, Crowe in the front passenger seat and Young in the back seat. (RP 2216, 2221) According to Crowe, Young said he had seen Treptow sitting in a parked car and asked Branch why she was there. (RP 2222, 2383) Branch responded that he did not know what Young was talking about. (RP 2222) Young continued to press Branch as they drove, and said he could not believe Branch was lying to him. (RP 2224, 2383-84) Young also asked Branch where Green was. (RP 2225)

Branch was not driving well because he had smoked marijuana, and Crowe noticed that Branch was not taking the most direct route to Crowe's house. (RP 2228, 2255, 2268) Finally, Young told Branch to turn onto Vickery Avenue. Branch completed the turn but the car stalled as soon as Branch reached a stop sign. (RP 2228, 2386) Then Young leaned forward and shot Branch twice in the face. (RP 2229, 2386) Young then turned towards Crowe,

pointed the gun at him, and told him to get out of the car. (RP 2229) Crowe jumped out, ran to a nearby house, and asked to use the phone. (RP 1928, 2231-32, 2233) He did not call 911, however, and instead called his girlfriend. (RP 2233)

Neighbors called 911, and police and medical aid responded soon after. (RP 1635, 1716, 1841, 1922) Branch was transported to the hospital, and Crowe was detained as he ran from the scene. (RP 1843, 1846) Crowe told the officer that "Steven just shot Bryan in the face." (RP 1845) Branch survived, but suffered traumatic facial injuries and required numerous surgeries to repair the damage. (RP 2000-03) While he was still in the hospital, Branch was shown a picture of Young and he non-verbally indicated that Young was the shooter. (RP 2046, 2049-50)

Young told his friend, Robert Toulouse, that he had not shot at the car containing Treptow and Green. (RP 1858) Young told Toulouse that he believed he was being set up to take the blame for the shooting, and believed someone was planning to retaliate against him. (RP 1859, 1872, 1860) According to Toulouse, Young believed he saw flashing headlights just before he shot Branch. (RP 1860-61, 1864) Toulouse also testified that Young told him that he hid in blackberry bushes and that he dropped his gun as he ran from

the scene of the second shooting. (RP 1863)

About a year and a half after the incidents, police conducted a search of property near the second shooting. They found a .45 caliber gun in blackberry bushes behind a nearby home. (RP 1934, 1936, 1937-38, 2015, 2024) Casings and bullets collected from the two shooting scenes and the two cars involved, and bullets recovered from Branch's body, were all determined to have been fired from that same .45 caliber gun. (RP 1403-04, 1407, 1795, 1805, 1954, 1957, 2169-70)

Investigators also obtained and reviewed cellular phone records for the various persons involved, including a phone they believed belonged to Young. (RP 2362, 2363-64, 2387, 2398, 2464-65, 2472-73) The records indicated that the phone believed to be Young's was being used around the time both shootings occurred, and the calls had connected through cell phone towers in the vicinity of the shootings. (RP 2480, 2482, 2483, 2489, 2490, 2491, 2494, 2498, 2499) However, cellular phones do not always connect through the closest tower, and instead generally connect to the tower with the strongest signal. (RP 2511-12)

IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING MINIMALLY PROBATIVE BUT UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL EVIDENCE OF YOUNG'S WHITE SUPREMACIST OR SKINHEAD BELIEFS.

Under ER 404(b), evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove a defendant's character or propensity to commit crimes, but may be admissible for other purposes, such as "motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." ER 404(b); State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). Bad acts under ER 404(b) include "acts that are merely unpopular or disgraceful." State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 126, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) (quoting 5 K. Tegland, Wash. Pract., Evidence § 114 at 383-84 (3rd ed. 1989)); see eg. State v. Scott, 151 Wn. App. 520, 526-27, 213 P.3d 71 (2009) (admission of gang evidence measured under the standards of ER 404(b)).

Before such evidence may be admitted, the trial court must first identify the purpose for which the evidence is being admitted. State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1986). Next, the court must determine that the proffered evidence is logically relevant to prove a material issue. Powell, 126 Wn.2d at 262. The test is whether such evidence is relevant and necessary to prove an

essential fact of the crime charged. <u>State v. Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d 358, 362, 655 P.2d 697 (1982); <u>State v. Laureano</u>, 101 Wn.2d 745, 764, 682 P.2d 889 (1984). Evidence is logically relevant if it tends to make the existence of the identified fact more or less probable. <u>Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d at 361-62.

Finally, assuming the evidence is logically relevant, the court must determine whether its probative value outweighs any potential prejudice. <u>Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d at 362-63; <u>State v. Bennett</u>, 36 Wn. App. 176, 180, 672 P.2d 772 (1983); ER 403.

Over defense objection, the State was allowed to elicit evidence that Young is a white supremacist. (RP 101-10, 1294-98, 1533-34) The State presented photographs of Young's tattoos, which included a Nazi swastika and a portrait of Adolph Hitler. (RP 1532-34, 1850; Exh. P110, P111) The State also elicited testimony that Young may have been a skinhead and that he said he was upset because "some nigger is fucking his girl." (RP 1590, 1593-94) The trial court allowed this evidence because it supposedly established Young's motive for the first shooting: that Young was angry that his

girlfriend had been sleeping with a black man.² (RP 101-10, 1294-96)

Cases involving gang affiliation evidence are instructive. Because of the grave danger of unfair prejudice, evidence of gang affiliation is inadmissible unless the State establishes a sufficient nexus between the defendant's gang affiliation and the crime charged. See State v. Campbell, 78 Wn. App. 813, 901 P.2d 1050 (1995). Evidence of gang membership is inadmissible when it proves no more than a defendant's abstract beliefs. Dawson v. Delaware, 503 U.S. 159, 165, 112 S. Ct. 1093, 117 L. Ed. 2d 309 (1992) (gang membership inadmissible to prove abstract belief because it is protected by constitutional rights of freedom of association and freedom of speech); Campbell, 78 Wn. App. at 822.

In this case, the trial court abused its discretion when it admitted evidence of Young's white supremacist beliefs, his possible affiliation with skinhead groups, and his related tattoos, because the State did not show a nexus between the evidence and the crime, the evidence was not necessary to prove a material issue in the case,

-

² A trial court's decision to admit evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>State v. McBride</u>, 74 Wn. App. 460, 463, 873 P.2d 589 (1994). The court abuses its discretion if there are no tenable grounds for its decision. <u>State v. Tharp</u>, 27 Wn. App. 198, 206, 616 P.2d 693 (1980).

and the probative value was slight in comparison to its potential for prejudice.

First, the evidence was totally unnecessary to prove Young's motive for shooting at Treptow and Green. The jury certainly could have grasped the idea that Young was angry that his girlfriend was sleeping with another man, regardless of Young's views about the race of the other man. And this is certainly not the first time that infidelity has led to violence. The State could have easily established a motive without this evidence.

In fact, the State never made any connection between Young's beliefs and Young's motive for the first shooting. There was no evidence that Young only responded violently because Green was black, or that Young's belief system compelled him to respond violently. When there is no connection made between a defendant's affiliations and the charged offense, admission of such evidence is prejudicial error. See Scott, 151 Wn. App. at 527, 528 (when no connection made between a defendant's gang affiliation and the charged offense, admission of gang evidence is prejudicial error) (citing State v. Asaeli, 150 Wn. App. 543, 208 P.3d 1136, 1155-1156 (2009)).

Finally, any probative value was slight at best, but the

potential for prejudice was quite high. Evidence of unpopular beliefs and associations is prejudicial to a defendant. See Scott, 151 Wn. App. at 526 (evidence of gang affiliation is considered prejudicial); <u>United States v. Roark</u>, 924 F.2d 1426, 1430-34 (8th Cir. 1991) (gang affiliation causes jurors to "prejudge a person with a disreputable past, thereby denying that person a fair opportunity to defend against the offense that is charged"). Admission of such evidence also implicates a defendant's constitutional rights of freedom of association and freedom of expression. See State v. Monschke, 133 Wn. App. 313, 331, 135 P.3d 966 (2006) (citing Texas v. Johnson, 491 U.S. 397, 414, 109 S. Ct. 2533, 105 L. Ed. 2d 342 (1989)) (the First Amendment protects an individual's right to hold and express unpopular views and to associate with others who share that viewpoint). Thus, there was a danger that the jury would view Young as a bad person with anti-social or violent tendencies, and that the jury would feel compelled to punish him for holding such unpopular or offensive views. This is exactly what ER 404(b) is designed to prevent.

Without a strong showing that the evidence regarding Young's white supremacist beliefs and associations was necessary to establish Young's motive, and that there was in fact a nexus between

his beliefs and the crime, the evidence should not have been admitted. The admission of the evidence was improper, unnecessary, and highly prejudicial. Young's convictions should therefore be reversed.

B. YOUNG WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN HIS TRIAL ATTORNEY FAILED TO REQUEST A LIMITING INSTRUCTION.

Effective assistance of counsel is guaranteed by both the United States and Washington State constitutions. U.S. Const. amd. VI; Wash. Const. art. I, § 22 (amend. x); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Mierz, 127 Wn.2d 460, 471, 901 P.2d 286 (1995).

The test for ineffective assistance of counsel has two parts: (1) the defendant must show that defense counsel's conduct was deficient, i.e., that it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) such conduct must have prejudiced the defendant, i.e., there is a reasonable probability that, but for the deficient conduct, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. State v. Thomas, 109 Wn. 2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) (adopted test from Strickland). A "reasonable probability" means a probability "sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." State v. Leavitt, 49 Wn. App. 348, 359, 743 P.2d 270

(1987). However, a defendant "need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome of the case." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693.

As noted above, evidence of other bad acts "is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith." ER 404(b). Evidence of a defendant's affiliation with gangs or other unpopular groups or beliefs is not automatically precluded under this rule. There are certain limited circumstances under which a jury may consider such evidence for a non-propensity purpose. See Campbell, 78 Wn. App. at 821-22 (evidence properly admitted to show premeditation, motive, and intent).

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