NO. 45582-0-II

---

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

STEPHEN ADAM YOUNG, APPELLANT

---

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County  
The Honorable Vicki Hogan

No. 10-1-04933-1

---

**Brief of Respondent**

---

MARK LINDQUIST  
Prosecuting Attorney

By  
JASON RUYF  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South  
Room 946  
Tacoma, WA 98402  
PH: (253) 798-7400

**

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

Evidence of defendant's white supremacist beliefs was appropriately admitted to establish his motive for the first shooting. 10RP 1297-98. It advanced a well supported non-propensity theory, for it proved him to be an ardent white supremacist who committed the first degree assaults charged in Counts IV-VIII out of racially-charged anger over the belief his girlfriend was having sex with an African American male. 5RP 511, 525-27; 6RP 688, 699, 707, 716-17; 12RP 1532-34, 1589-90, 1593-98, 1613-14; 14RP 1857-58, 1869-70, 1881; 14RP 1850; CP 225, Ex. 110, 111.

Defendant's racially-motivated rage could have also been properly admitted to prove his specific intent to inflict great bodily harm on at least one of his four victims as was required to convict him of first degree assault. See *Monschke*, 133 Wn. App. at 323; RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a); RCW 9A.08.010(1)(a); *State v. Tharp*, 27 Wn. App. 198, 208, 616 P.2d 693 (1980), *aff'd*, 96 Wn.2d 591, 637 P.2d 961 (1981); *State v. Kelly*, 64 Wn. App. 755, 764, 828 P.2d 1106 (1992) (A trial court may be affirmed on any valid basis). The challenged evidence was allowed for a valid ER 404(b) purpose.

- b. Defendant's white supremacist beliefs were highly relevant to understanding why he was willing to fire four .45 caliber bullets into an occupied SUV on a public street in response to unconfirmed suspicion his girlfriend was having a sexual relationship with an African American male.

Adherence to white supremacist beliefs may be admitted under ER 404(b) when it is relevant to the defendant's motive for committing a charged offense. See *Monschke*, 133 Wn. App. at 323; *State v. Mollet*, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, 326 P.3d 851, 858, (2014); *State v. Boot*, 89 Wn. App. 780, 789, 950 P.2d 964, *review denied*, 135 Wn.2d 1015, 960 P.2d 939 (1998); *State v. Campbell*, 78 Wn. App. 813, 822, 901 P.2d 1050 (2012). Relevant evidence tends to make the existence of any material fact more or less probable. ER 401; see also *State v. Smith*, 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1986)(quoting *State v. Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d 358, 362-63, 655 P.2d 697 (1982)). The trial court is generally in the best position to evaluate relevance. *Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d at 176.

The link between defendant's white supremacist beliefs and the first October 28<sup>th</sup> shooting was proved through the testimony of several witnesses. 12RP 1589-90, 1593-98, 1613-14; 14RP 1857-58, 1869-70, 1881. Their testimony established defendant shot into an SUV occupied

by his girlfriend, two African American males and another female, after becoming incensed by the belief his girlfriend was having sex with one of those African American males, whom defendant referred to as "some nigger" due to his antipathy toward members of the black race. 12RP 1589-90, 1593-94; 14RP 1869-70.

In addition to explaining why defendant fired four hollow point bullets at his girlfriend and the African American male she was with, defendant's extreme racial animus also tended to prove the specific intent element of first degree assault. Counts V-VIII required the State to prove defendant fired into the SUV with a specific intent to inflict great bodily harm on at least one of its occupants. RCW 9.A.36.011(1); CP 187 (Instruction No. 20); CP 197 (Instruction No. 28); *State v. Elmi*, 166 Wn.2d 209, 220-221, 207 P.3d 439 (2009).

Accurately understood in terms of defendant's extreme racism, the first shooting was not merely the violent overreaction of a jealous suitor, it was an example of defendant "standing up for the white race" as the Skinhead he held himself out to be. See *Monschke*, 133 Wn. App. at 330. Defendant was established to be an ardent white supremacist, or Neo-Nazi "Skinhead". 12RP 1589-90, 1593-98, 1613-14; 14RP 1857-58, 1869-70, 1881. His deep commitment to white supremacist dogma was very publically manifested through a "⚡" scalp tattoo, swastika neck tattoo,



and Adolph Hitler leg tattoo. 12RP 1532-34, 1589-90, 1593-98, 1613-14; 14RP 1857-58, 1869-70, 1881; 14RP 1850; CP 225, Ex. 110 , 111.

"[W]hite supremacists ... can be identified by their common ideology ... white people are [a] superior [yet] threatened [race]." *Monschke*, 133 Wn. App. at 330; ER 201.<sup>3</sup> Social standing within their culture is tied to being perceived as "[s]omeone ... standing up for the white race ... [or] being a white warrior". *Id.* The fact defendant perceived his girlfriend's purported sexual relationship with an African American to be an affront to nature, as well as an act of emotional betrayal, makes the existence of defendant's specific intent to inflict great bodily harm on her and her alleged African American sexual partner far more likely than it would be without such evidence.

Defendant appears to maintain those valid ER 404(b) purposes cannot support the trial court's ruling, since the State allegedly failed to prove he was *exclusively* motivated by racial animus. App.Br. 14. There is no support for the "exclusive motivation" requirement he reads into ER 404(b). The absence of such an unnatural requirement is to be expected for "[t]he law recognizes ... there may be multiple motives for human

---

<sup>3</sup> ER 201. Judicial Notice of Adjudicative Facts. (b) Kinds of Facts. A judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot be reasonably questioned."

behavior[.]” See *United States v. Tachnodyne LLC*, 753 F.3d 368, 385 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir., 2014); *State v. Arreola*, 176 Wn.2d 284, 297-98, 290 P.3d 983 (2012). Defendant's extreme racism was relevant to understanding his motive for committing the firearm enhanced first degree assaults charged in Counts IV-VII, in addition to his specific intent in committing them, regardless of whether he was *also* motivated to shoot into an occupied SUV traveling on a public road out of jealousy.

- c. Defendant's white supremacist beliefs were more probative than prejudicial as they gave the jury an accurate understanding of why he reacted so violently to the belief his girlfriend was having an affair with an African American male given the defense that one of Green's unidentified enemies was responsible for the shooting.

The probative value of relevant ER 404(b) evidence must outweigh its prejudicial effect. *State v. Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d at 363; *State v. Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d 689, 693, 689 P.2d 76 (1984). A trial judge is best suited to evaluate a piece of evidence's potential for prejudice within the dynamics of a jury trial. *State v. Posey*, 161 Wn.2d 638, 648, 167 P.3d 560 (2007)(citing *State v. Taylor*, 60 Wn.2d 32, 40, 371 P.2d 617 (1962)).

**i. Defendant's extreme racism was highly probative to explain his motive for shooting at his girlfriend and the African American male she was with as well as his intent to inflict great bodily harm upon them.**

ER 404(b) balancing tips in favor of admissibility when the evidence of a defendant's racist ideology tends to explain his state of mind in committing a crime charged. See *Monschke*, 133 Wn. App. at 330; *Mollet*, 326 P.3d at 858 ( use of phrase "white power" properly admitted to explain the relationship motivating Mollet to criminally assist a State Trooper's murderer); *State v. Maesse*, 29 Wn. App. 642, 649, 629 P.2d 1349 (1981); *State v. Boggs*, 80 Wn.2d 427, 495 P.2d 321 (1972). Such circumstantial evidence may be indispensably probative due to the inherent difficulty of proving a defendant's subjective state of mind. See *Monschke*, 133 Wn. App. at 330; *Mollet*, 326 P.3d at 858; *Maesse*, 29 Wn. App. at 649; *Gray v. First Winthrop Corp.*, 82 F.3d 877, 884 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir., 1996)(citing *Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston*, 459 U.S. 375, 390 n. 30, 103 S. Ct. 683, 74 L. Ed. 2d 548 (1983)). It may also be necessary to explain the crime in context. *Boot*, 89 Wn. App. at 789.

Defendant's adherence to white supremacist ideology was established as his reason for the first October 28<sup>th</sup> shooting, i.e., he was an

ardent white supremacist irate about his girlfriend "fucking" an African American male, defendant referred to as "some nigger". 12RP 1589-90, 1593-98, 1613-14; 14RP 1857-58, 1869-70, 1881. It likewise provided critical circumstantial evidence of defendant's specific intent to inflict great bodily harm on them as the likelihood defendant perceived his girlfriend and Green as engaging in an interracial relationship that violated his deeply held Neo-Nazi mores makes it far less likely the shooting was a recklessly indifferent warning to discontinue the relationship. The first October 28<sup>th</sup> shooting was no less critical *res gestae* to defendant's subsequent attempt to murder Branch several hours later, for defendant shot him twice in the head based on a belief Branch was assisting the targeted African American male to retaliate in response to the first shooting. 13RP 1680, 1799; 14RP 1845-46, 1857-62; 15RP 2002-04, 2049; 17RP 2224, 2229; 18RP 2384-85.

Similar to *Yarbrough*, defendant's white supremacist beliefs were inextricably linked to the State's theory of the case, for they explained the hatred instigated by Treptow's purported interracial relationship with Green in terms of Green's perceived membership in a racial group defendant openly despised. See *State v. Yarbrough*, 151 Wn. App. 66, 84, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009). That of itself would provide an insightful explanation for why defendant would do something as extreme as fire four

hollow point bullets into an occupied SUV on a public street over an unverified suspicion of his girlfriend's infidelity. *See Id.*

Defendant contends evidence of his racial animus was unnecessary for the State to meet its burden since the first October 28<sup>th</sup> shooting could have been plausibly—even if incompletely—explained in terms of simple jealousy. App.Br. 14. This suggestion about how the State might have overcome its burden of proof once persuasive evidence of defendant's guilt is artificially removed from an accurate account of his crimes relies on a misconception of ER 404(b)'s intended purpose. The rule is not designed to keep a jury ignorant of the unflattering truth about a defendant's reasons for committing violent crime whenever less repugnant motivations are also at work. *See Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d at 175; *Monschke*, 133 Wn. App. at 330; *Mollet*, 326 P.3d at 858; *State v. Rice*, 110 Wn.2d 577, 601, 757 P.2d 889 (1988) *cert. denied*, 491 U.S. 910 (1989). A racially motivated crime need not be explained as anything other than a racially motivated crime. *See Id.*; *State v. Stackhouse*, 90 Wn. App. 334, 358, 957 P.2d 218, *rev. denied*, 136 Wn.2d 1002 (1998); *State v. Lough*, 70 Wn. App. 302, 333, 853 P.2d 920 (1993).

Defendant's proposal for weakening the State's proof seemingly overlooks the fact he put the State to its entire burden to prove Counts V-VIII despite his careful efforts to convince the jury one of Green's

unidentified enemies committed those crimes in the course of an unrelated conflict. 11RP 1372, 1383, 1385; 20RP 2610. The State was consequently called upon to establish defendant was the shooter in addition to his specific intent in pulling the trigger. To meet its high burden, the State was entitled to present the jury an accurate account of defendant's crimes in the racially-charged context in which they were committed. *See State v. Lane*, 125 Wn.2d 825, 831, 889 P.2d 929 (1995). A defendant cannot use ER 404(b) as a tactical weapon to increase the chance of an unjust acquittal by forcing the State to present an incomplete version of the evidence. *See Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d at 175; *State v. Lillard*, 122 Wn.App. 422, 431-32, 93 P.3d 969 (2004). Jealously compounded by racist hatred for Treptow's interracial relationship with Green set defendant apart as the most likely shooter when the incident occurred and provided helpful insight into the lethal intent with which he acted. The probative value of his white supremacist beliefs was tremendous for they were an inextricable component of his crimes.

**ii. The tremendous probative value of defendant's racial motivation for the shooting was not outweighed by its prejudicial effect.**

The potential prejudice adhering to the truth of a defendant's adherence to white supremacist dogma will not justify its exclusion when

it is directly relevant to establishing an essential element of a charged offense. *See Monschke*, 133 Wn. App. at 330; *Mollet*, 326 P.3d at 858; *see also Yarbrough*, 151 Wn. App. at 84; *Boot*, 89 Wn. App. at 789; *Maesse*, 29 Wn. App. at 649.

Any prejudice adhering to defendant's militant brand of racism could not outweigh the probative value of that evidence since it was an inseparable part of the charged offenses. Once admitted, the evidence was judiciously limited to its proper purpose of proving defendant's culpability for Counts V-VIII, as well as his intent in their commission. True to the State's proffer, the case was never transformed into a trial gratuitously focused on defendant's Skinhead beliefs. *See* 10RP 1297-98. His racism was only touched upon to the extent necessary to provide needed insight into his case-related words and deeds. *See* 12RP 1589-90, 1593-98, 1613-14; 14RP 1857-58, 1869-70, 1881 CP 225, Ex. 110, 111. For example, the State refrained from pursuing evidence of defendant's validated membership in the white supremacist prison gang known as the "Aryan Skins". 1RP 24. Eighteen photographs documenting the entirety of defendant's white supremacist tattoos were not introduced. CP 226, Ex. 112-129. The State hardly referenced defendant's racism in closing other than to remind the jury defendant committed the first October 28<sup>th</sup> shooting because he was angry about a black guy having sex with his

girlfriend. See e.g. 20RP 2588, 2591. Defendant's summary of the State's case further evinces its disciplined use of the evidence:

"[W]hat the prosecution did in this case is ... tell you a story [that] went essentially like this: That Mr. Young and Deanna Treptow were having a relationship, and that Deanna Treptow was seeing an African American man by the name of Marlon Scrappy Green, and that he was so incensed by this that he decided to shoot at the car in which Ms. Treptow and Mr. Green were riding."

20RP 2606. The State did not return to defendant's racism in rebuttal. 20RP 2633-45.

The record is devoid of any effort to exploit the jury's presumed dislike for white supremacists to obtain an emotionally biased verdict. Rather, it firmly establishes the State scrupulously abided by the trial court's direction not to put defendant's racism on trial. 10RP 1297-98. The challenged evidence helped to explain but did not replace evidence of defendant's guilt. It was properly admitted.

**iii. Implied ER 404(b) balancing was sufficient in this case since the court adopted the State's reasoning on admissibility after extensive argument from the parties on which way the scale should tip.**

There is no erroneous failure to conduct ER 404(b) balancing if the trial court adopted a party's express argument on the relative weight between probative value and prejudicial effect. *State v. Hughs*, 118 Wn. App. 713, 725, 77 P.3d 681 (2003)(citing *State v. Barragan*, 102 Wn.



App. 754, 759, 9 P.3d 942 (2000); *State v. Carleton*, 82 Wn. App. 680, 685, 919 P.2d 128 (1996). While trial courts should always be careful to conduct the required balancing on the record, its omission is harmless if the appellate court can determine the evidence was properly admitted from the record. *State v. Hepton*, 113 Wn. App. 673, 54 P.3d 223 (2002); *State v. Sublett*, 156 Wn. App. 160, 231 P.3d 23, *rev. granted*, 170 Wn.2d 1016, 245 P.3d 775 (2010); *Powell*, 126 Wn.2d at 264-65. *Carleton*, 82 Wn. App. 680, 685, 919 P.2d 128 (1996); *Gomez*, 75 Wn. App. 648, 651-52, 880 P.2d 65 (1994).

The Court impliedly balanced the probative value of the challenged evidence against its potential prejudice when it adopted the State's theory of admissibility over defendant's arguments for exclusion. 1RP 101, 104-07, 109-12; 4RP 397-400; 5RP 511, 525-27; 6RP 688, 691, 699, 707, 716-17; 10RP 1294-98. Any failure to adequately articulate the balancing is harmless since the trial court's decision is supported by the record. The trial court's ER 404(b) ruling should be affirmed with defendant's convictions.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> Even error in admitting the entirety of the challenged evidence would not warrant the reversal defendant requests due to the overwhelming evidence of his guilt. *See State v. Read*, 147 Wn.2d 238, 53 P.3d 26 (2002); *State v. Neal*, 144 Wn.2d 600, 611, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001) (citation omitted; *see also State v. Tharp*, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981); *State v. Cunningham*, 93 Wn.2d 823, 613 P.2d 1139 (1980).

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